
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422520

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 24 March 2021

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON THURSDAY 1 APRIL 2021 AT 6.00 PM

A VIRTUAL MEETING

You can watch this meeting via this weblink: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Elizabeth Gillespie

Kate Gregory
Lorraine Hillier
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Victoria Haval
Kellie Hinton

Mocky Khan
Jane Murphy
Caroline Newton
Sue Roberts

Alan Thompson
David Turner

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ


2

1 Chair's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

4 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

5 Proposals for site visits  

6 Public participation  (Pages 5 - 24)

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to make a 
representation on planning applications which are being presented to this committee 
meeting. 

Statements duly received are published below. They have also been circulated to 
members of the Committee prior to the meeting. They will not be read out at the 
meeting.

ADDITIONAL NOTE

Statements received

A schedule of the written representations received is attached.

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 



3

exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

7 P20/S2712/FUL 
- Old 
Telephone 
Exchange, 
Church Road, 
Benson  

Replacing 2 existing brick former 
telephone exchange buildings with a 
new, one-bedroom residential 
dwelling, with live work studio above, 
re-using the existing access and 
parking area (as amplified by 
Transport and Agricultural 
Information received 8 October and 
19 October 2020 respectively. 
Energy Statement received on 13 
January 2021 and amended by 
drawing no. 20 TECB PPB02 rev D 
received on 1 February 2021 to 
revise garden layout and external 
wall material).

P20/S2712/FUL 25 - 42

8 P20/S4298/FUL 
- 62 Ludsden 
Grove, Thame  

Construction of garden building for 
part personal use and part business 
use as a hairdressing salon.

P20/S4298/FUL 43 - 54

9 P21/S0290/FUL 
- Fifield House, 
Ferry Road, 
South Stoke  

Variation of condition 5 (removal of 
the words "...but to the east and 
south of the garage on the boundary 
to The Old Forge House..." on 
application ref. P19/S1072/FUL. The 
original description of 
P19/S1072/FUL was
"Alterations to design of rear 
elevation of house and provision of 
building in garden following approval 
of replacement dwelling under 
permission P16/S3861/FUL".

P21/S0290/FUL 55 - 68



This page is intentionally left blank



SODC Planning Committee

Thursday 1 April 2021

Statements submitted to the Committee

7. Old Telephone Exchange, Church Road, Benson

 Dr. Karen Edwards, local resident
 Mr. Geoffrey Harcourt, local resident
 Cllr. Bill Pattison, Benson Parish Council
 Ms. Amanda Walker, agent

8. 62, Ludsden Grove, Thame

 Cllr. Tom Wyse, Thame Town Council
 Ms. Amy Burchell, applicant

9. Fifield House, Ferry Road, South Stoke

 Mr. Michael Hargreaves, local resident 
 Mr. Richard Wyndham-Smith, agent

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Subject: Meeting 1st April Benson 

Dear planning team,

Thank you for reading this I work in accident and emergency and have been on late 
shifts recently so apologies for the delay in responding. 

 I have been concerned about the safety of the junction at the war memorial for a 
while after witnessing an awful accident there 18 months ago. 

A car travelling from the co-op direction smashed into a car trying to turn right onto 
church Rd from the slip road behind the memorial and it ended up crossing the road 
mounting the pavement and hitting the wall next to the old vicarage on the opposite 
side of the road. 

Luckily the driver only had minor injuries and thankfully no one was walking on the 
pavement. 

The dropped kerb at the old telephone exchange has not been used in the 8 years I 
have been here and my neighbour who has been here for 31 years has also never 
seen it in use. 

I am concerned that both the footpath and road directly opposite this exit are both 
very narrow. We have to walk around what we call the “danger corner” a tight narrow 
pavement in order to get the kids to school and buses have previously knocked a 
bag out of my sons hand as it drove past us despite us walking close to the wall in 
single file. 

If this new dwelling and driveway goes ahead it will exit directly opposite (arguably) 
the most dangerous junction in Benson. 

This will make this junction even more risky for pedestrians, especially kids walking 
to school and drivers trying to turn rt from London Rd onto church Rd. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



This proposal has been rejected every time it has been suggested over many many 
years. Each time due to road safety concerns so I am concerned about this new 
recommendation.

Many of us in Benson heard a long and sickening screech and crash from the last 
major accident there. We were involved in helping the driver who had minor injuries 
and calling 999 and redirecting traffic to avoid further accidents. 

No one was walking past at the time but if anyone had been walking on that narrow 
pavement opposite they would have be very seriously injured or killed. 

Please consider this statement from someone who sees the consequences of poor 
road safety on people every day. 

I’m afraid I am working on the 1st April so will probably not be able to make the 
meeting but would be grateful if you could read this statement there. Thank you for 
reading this. 

Many thanks 

Dr Karen Edwards 

Emergency Department consultant and Paediatric Emergency Dept lead at Wexham 
Park Hospital, Frimley Health Trust

Page 8



Objections to Development at the Ex Telephone Exchange building, Benson.

P20/S2712/FUL

My objections to the Application are these:-

1. The site is tiny and the proposed dwelling totally out of keeping with the 
surrounding houses, three of which are grade 2 listed, plus Benson War Memorial. 
The appearance of the intended dwelling is reminiscent of half a Nissen hut of WW2 
with absolutely no aesthetic merit and would detract from the fine proportions and 
classic style of the nearby architecturally important buildings in Benson.

2. The application speaks of ‘re-using the existing access and parking area’ Let 
us be clear there never was vehicle access or parking area on the site and it is 
disingenuous to suggest otherwise. I have lived at the Old Vicarage for 51 years and 
in all that time have never seen a vehicle drive onto or park on the site even when it 
was a working Exchange. The lowered kerb would give the impression that access 
existed but as I recall this was done on the initiative of Mr Jones at some previous 
attempt to develop the site (there have been two before the present one). The 
danger posed by allowing car movements at this very busy road junction either 
backing out of or driving into the supposed access is extremely high.

3. I would not welcome a development cheek by jowl to my house that by its 
paucity of aesthetic merit would seriously diminish the value of my house and those 
around me in Castle Square and I cannot understand the Conservation Officer’s 
sanguine attitude to what can only be described as a ghastly eye-sore.

4. It should be well understood that the trees which stand between the present 
building and the road are not part of the site and as far as I know are not owned by 
the applicant. I would strongly object to any harm coming to the welcome green 
screen they provide when in leaf.

Conclusion. The Planning Committee should ask themselves this - would they grant 
permission for a tiny dwelling reminiscent of an industrial building on a piece of land 
no bigger than a pocket handkerchief, with no garden and within a stone’s throw of 
three fine listed buildings in the heart of an Oxfordshire village of historical 
importance if it were not for the fact that it replaces an old Exchange building no 
longer in use. Would not their aesthetic sensibilities be outraged by the suggestion in 
normal circumstances. Were it not for the fact that one eye sore is replaced by what 
would seem to be another should not be an issue here and should not be reason to 
grant permission. Pulling the old building down and planting trees would be a far 
better use of the site.

Geoffrey Harcourt RDI FRSA DesRCA

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Councillor Pattison, Benson PC

In 2005 & 2007 there were similar applications for this site. The current application differs by 
wishing to demolish the existing buildings & construct a new building, whereas the previous 
applications were to convert the existing buildings. 

The earlier applications were both refused permission for the following reasons:-  

1. That the development proposed would constitute a cramped form of development resulting 
in unsatisfactory standards of environment and residential amenity for occupiers of the 
proposed dwelling house contrary to policy H11 of the adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
and policies D3 and D4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 Second Deposit Draft 
September 2003.

2. The existing buildings are low key unattractive buildings which have limited impact on the 
Conservation area and street scene in general. The physical works proposed for the 
conversion to residential, including the proposed link, the insertion of windows and roof 
lights and a turning area for vehicles, will have a detrimental impact on the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area contrary to Policy CON7 of the adopted South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan.

The applicant for the second of the earlier applications appealed against the refusal, with the appeal 
being dismissed, the inspector agreed with the planning officer’s view. 

If the site was too cramped previously, how has the current planning officer perceived this not to be 
so?  

If the conversion of the existing buildings, with the associated alteration, for residential use, was 
considered as detrimental to the conservation area in 2007, how can a new building, with an 
unconventional curved roof, plus all of the previously rejected external additional construction, to 
accommodate vehicular access & turning, plus domestic amenities, be less impactful on the 
conservation area?

Benson is already in the process of major expansion, with an increase of 80%, over the original 
housing stock. This proposal is not required as a necessary addition to available housing. 

The site is situated adjacent to the busiest road junction in the village. Currently there are little to no 
vehicles accessing the site. Even when its former use as a telephone exchange was current, the 
vehicle movements were minimal. The change of use to residential would increase the vehicle 
movements exponentially, at a hazardous road junction.

It is difficult to understand how the current planning officer can contradict two former colleagues & 
a government appointed member of the Planning Inspectorate, by suggesting that this site is 
suitable for a dwelling.

The site has not grown. The road has become busier. The conservation area has not gone away & an 
additional dwelling is not necessary. Therefore Benson Parish Council continues to oppose this 
application & would urge the Planning Committee to support this objection.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Via e-mail:

  planningbusinessenquiries@southandvale.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Dear Chair & Committee Members, 
 
 
My client has owned the Old Telephone Exchange for a number of years, during which it has 
most recently been used as a builder’s store.  I must emphasise that the existing buildings 
are in private ownership and my client has no intention of converting them to a museum as 
suggested in the local Parish magazine. 
 
I did attend a parish meeting to explain the proposals in detail but was not allowed to be 
party to any discussion or given any feedback as to their concerns at the time. 
 
The proposals are for the two existing brick single storey buildings to be demolished and a 
new single dwelling built largely on their footprint re using their foundations to avoid any 
damage to existing tree routes. 
 
The existing buildings are built from brickwork but have no wall or roof insulation and are not 
suitable for conversion. 
 
The new property is for my client’s daughter and has been designed to suit her needs as 
well as meeting the National Housing Standards, for a one-bedroom dwelling with a shower. 
 
The curved roof has a ridge height no higher than the exiting buildings, with its apex further 
away from the tree canopies due to the arch, rather than a central ridge.  This will result in 
no pruning or works required to the existing trees. 
 
During the application, we have submitted reports to evidence that residential use will have 
limited impact on traffic safety and parking due to the existence of the dropped kerb and 
current parking for one vehicle in relation to its existing and potential uses. 
 
The conservation officer has been consulted, even through the site is not within the 
conservation area, and limited views of the site are possible from Church Road.  As a result 
of the consultation the external walls will be brickwork rather than render.   
 
The inner skin will be timber studwork allowing for the walls to be insulated in a fabric first 
approach achieving a 65% improvement on the current regulations.  
 

 

TECB     The Old Telephone Exchange, 32 A Church Road Benson Application P20/S2712/FUL 

29th March 2021 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



Our ref:  TECB 2 CL 01 

  Page 2 of 2 

An energy report has been submitted with the application confirming the new property will be 
highly thermally efficient and heated via and air source heat pump. 
 
The external amenity provision meets the council’s standards for a property of this size, and 
a walled external seating area has been provided, along with a bin store and cycle store.  
 
No overlooking is possible into the adjacent dwelling at 34 Church Road either from within 
the property or its external amenity. 
 
 

We note the following inspectors’ comments from a dismissed appeal in 2008: 
 

• The existing buildings are undistinguished and not particularly conspicuous in the 
street scene. 
 

• The inspector found changes to the proposed parking and domestication of the site in 
keeping with the village centre setting. 

 

• The inspector noted the site is opposite a conservation area with a wide variety of 
buildings sizes, types, and materials. 

 

• They concluded that the conversion of the budlings would not harm the conservation 
area. 

 

• The inspector was concerned about the accommodation on the ground floor - we can 
confirm this achieves 43m2 above the 37m2 required for a single person dwelling 
with a shower. 

 

• Previous issues over outlook and privacy have been addressed by incorporating new 
window positions which achieve above standard levels of daylight, ventilation, and 
surveillance, including a West facing window from the proposed kitchen and a tall 
south facing window to the living area, and gable window to the bedroom. 

 

• Employment issues are not relevant as the site cannot suitably accommodate 
alternative means of employment with no current running water or foul drainage. The 
proposals include a live / work unit with space for a workshop on the first floor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



P20/S4298/FUL  62 LUDSDEN GROVE THAME. 

I WOULD LIKE TO OBJECT TO THIS APPLICATION ON THE GROUNDS OF  

ROAD SAFETY. 

THE HIGHWAYS RESPONSE THAT "THE SITE IS LOCATED WITHIN A 

CUL-DE-SAC IN WHICH IT IS CONSIDERED VEHICLE SPEEDS AND TRAFFIC 

ARE RELATIVELY LOW" IS CLEARLY INCORRECT. 

HIGHWAYS HAVE NOT TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT THAT AT THE END OF THE 

CUL-DE-SAC IS THE ONE OF THE LARGEST JUNIOR SCHOOL IN 

OXFORDSHIRE AND ALSO THAT LUDSDEN GROVE IS THE ONLY VEHICLE 

ACCESS TO BARLEY HILL SCHOOL. I DO NOT KNOW IF HIGHWAYS 

VISITED THE SITE AND IF THEY DID THEN IT MAY HAVE BEEN QUIET 

WHEN THE SCHOOL WAS IN LOCKDOWN. 

 62 LUDSDEN GROVE HAS TWO FRONT GARDEN PARKING SPACES 

WHICH ARE SITUATED JUST AROUND A BLIND CORNER THIS CREATES A 

DANGEROUS SITUATION WHEN CUSTOMERS VEHICLES ARE DRIVING 

ON OR REVERSING OFF THESE PARKING SPACES. THE ORIGINAL DESIGN 

OF THIS HOUSE HAD PARKING IN A GARAGE FURTHER AWAY FROM 

THIS BLIND BEND. 

THE APPLICANT OWNS 2 VEHICLES WHICH CAN CAUSE FURTHER 

PROBLEMS WITH CUSTOMERS PARKING IN THE ROAD NEAR THE BLIND 

BEND AND CAUSING VEHICLES LEAVING THE SCHOOL TO HAVE TO 

ENTER THE BLIND BEND ON THE WRONG SIDE OF THE ROAD.  THE 

WORST POSSIBLE SCENARIO IS CHILDREN CYCLING INTO THE BLIND 

BEND HITTING A VEHICLE COMING FROM BARLEY HILL ON THE WRONG 

SIDE OF THE ROAD.  

WE HAVE LIVED IN LUDSDEN GROVE FOR 50 YEARS AND HAVE 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



WITNESSED THE ONGOING INCREASE IN TRAFFIC TO BARLEY HILL 

SCHOOL. 

I BELIEVE THAT IT IS MY DUTY AS A THAME TOWN COUNCILLOR TO 

HIGHLIGHT MY SAFETY CONCERNS TO THIS COMMITTEE.  

I AM HAPPY TO ANSWER ANY QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS APPLICATION. 

THANK YOU FOR LISTENING. 

  

Page 16



Statement by Amy Burchell

Planning Application No: P20/S4298/FUL

Property Address:

62 Ludsden Grove

Thame

OX9 3BZ

Proposal:

To use part of a garden building at 62 Ludsden Grove for a hair salon.

I would like to respond to the objections and opinions of my proposal.

Gerald Chaulk

Gerald Chaulk has raised concerns with my clients using the shared front path and 
alleyway to access my garden due to his privacy. The working hours I will be working 
Monday to Friday I believe coincide with Gerald's working hours, this will mean that 
he will not be home whilst my clients are using the shared access. I understand on a 
Saturday morning he will be at home, I will only have a couple of clients at this time 
and I believe would be no more disruption than me having visitors. I understand 
working hours change and should this be the case with Gerald I believe due to the 
small amount of clients I will be having over the week, there will be minimal 
disruption and again not too different to me having visitors. I would also like to say I 
am currently allowed to work from within my home, so I am already having clients 
into my home so there really would be no difference to what the current situation is 
now. I will be working there solely with only one client at a time. I arrange my time so 
no clients overlap, there will be no one waiting outside for their appointment. They 
will simply park on my driveway and walk straight through to the salon with next to no 
disruption.

Gerald has also raised concerns regarding noise, the building I will be working from 
will be at the end of the garden away from the houses. It will be a building built for 
purpose and will be using as much sound proofing materials as possible. There will 
be very minimal noise. 

Thomas Anthony Wyse

Thomas has raised concerns of a dangerous traffic situation. I do not believe this to 
be the case. I myself pull on and off the driveway many times throughout the day, as 
do my visitors. So whether or not the salon were to go ahead this is an active 
driveway being used multiple times a day by myself and visitors. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



Highway Liaison officers response states:

"On behalf of Oxfordshire County Council, as Local Highway Authority, I do not wish 
to object to the granting of planning permission.

After reviewing the supplied plans and documentation, the Highway Authority has No 
Objection to the proposal on the basis of Highway Safety."

Thomas has also explained we own a car and a van, this is correct. The van is my 
husbands and he is out at work from around 4.30am until 5.30pm so he will not be 
using the parking space during my working hours.

As for the un-neighbourly concern, I believe this to be Thomas's own opinion as this 
is not something that effects Thomas personally other than the fact he is Gerald's 
Uncle. Thomas is situated quite a way down the street from me so I do not feel my 
salon will impact him in anyway. 

South Oxfordshire District Council

I am aware my planning officer is recommending approval for planning permission 
for the salon. They had some points which needed to be considered before they 
came to this decision. These were:

• Subject to the salon operating hours not exceeding 23 hours per week (Monday – 
Saturday) 

I will not be exceeding these working hours

• Subject to no objection from County Highways 

There are no objections from County Highways

• Subject to no objection from Environmental Health 

There are no objections from Environmental Health

I hope I have managed to ease any concerns anyone may have. I am very respectful 
and would not do anything that I think would impact my neighbours in a disruptive or 
negative way. I like to think I get along very well with my neighbours in Ludsden 
Grove, I am friends with many of them and also quite a few are clients of mine and I 
have lot of their support in the progression of my salon. I am simply trying to make a 
small honest living to help support my family. 

Thank you for your time

Page 18



Amy Burchell

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Mr Hargreaves’ statement

FIFIELD DEVELOPMENT

PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING 1ST APRIL 2021

BRIEF SYNOPSIS OF EVENTS.

1. Fifield development approved – plans show tree belt along the boundary with The Old Forge 
House to be retained.

2. It should be noted that the tree belt is growing in perfectly good soil.
3. Developer removes all of tree belt after approval.
4. Landscaping scheme agreed which includes the requirement to replace the tree belt around 

the whole of the boundary with 12foot mature yew trees.
5. Developer constructs garage with side doorway approximately 4foot from the boundary 

together with toilet/washing facilities and associated drainage and water supply pipes along 
the area to be landscaped.

6. Works in 4 not included within approved development plan.
7. Doorway boarded up.
8. 4 yew trees planted to rear of garage. 1 further tree to be planted at rear per planning 

officer’s delegated report attached to the most recent planning decision.
9. A number of varied planning applications submitted by developer.
10. The same landscaping scheme regarding the yew trees remains as a specific planning 

condition.
11. Throughout whole process developer maintains that it can and will plant the yew trees in 

accordance with the agreed scheme.
12. The confirmation in 10 is given many times to officers, to the owner of The Old Forge House 

verbally, and in the developer’s latest Design and Access statement.
13. Through many discussions with the planning officer the owner of The Old Forge House is told 

more than once that the tree officer is not concerned about the viability of the landscaping 
scheme. In particular, the planning officer stated in a telephone conversation of 11th 
February 2019 with owner that the tree officer had said that only “18 inches” is required for 
the trees to be planted.

14. Developer refuses to landscape.
15. Enforcement investigation is raised.
16. Developer still refuses to landscape.
17. Section 73 Application to have obligation to landscape the boundary removed submitted. 

Submission was made after receiving pre-application advice from enforcement officer and 
planning officer.

18. Application supported by tree specialist that is not independent and:-
(a) Makes not one mention of yew trees.
(b) Makes reference to the garage only and makes no reference to the void that remains to 

be landscaped (see attached photograph).
(c) Makes no mention of maintenance problem with regard to trees that have been 

planted.
19. Planning officer makes site visit and takes photographs.
20. Tree officer makes no site visit.
21. Tree officer comments after the deadline with the result that no comment can be made in 

respect thereof. The comments are at odds with previous advice.

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



22. Planning officer reccomends acceptance of application with the additional condition that the 
yew trees that have been planted should be dug up.

            

Page 22



Statement by Richard Wyndham-Smith on behalf of Mr and Mrs Dodridge 
For Application P21/S0290/FUL 
Amendment of Condition at Fifield House, Ferry Lane, South Stoke. 
 
The Planning Officer’s Report, in conjunction with the reports from the applicants’ arboricultural 
consultant and the Council’s Tree Officer, provide an accurate reflection of the issues of this 
application to amend condition 5 of permission P19/S1072/FUL .  There are however just a 
couple of points I would wish to add.   
 
The first is that the application before you was submitted at the request of your Council to assist 
in regularising the situation of not being able to enforce the condition, as mentioned in the Tree 
Officers report.  
 
Second is that as the Condition stands it is ultra vires, as it does not comply with the requirements 
relating to the imposition of Conditions contained in Paragraph 55 of the 2019 NPPF.  As I am 
sure you are aware, this sets out the “six tests” for Conditions.  If a Condition fails any one of 
the six tests, then the Condition is invalid and the whole of the Condition falls away.   
 
The six tests are that conditions must be: 
 
1. Necessary 
2. Relevant to planning 
3.  Relevant to the development 
4.  Enforceable 
5. Precise 
6. Reasonable in all other respects 
 
As is quite clear from the Officer’s Report (and I believe at the Parish Council meeting it was 
made clear by the one Parish Councillor who had taken time to visit the site and look at the 
situation), the planting of the yew trees in question is NOT necessary, and it is not relevant to 
any planning issues. More importantly, as already mentioned, the Tree Officer’s Report  referred 
to in the Planning Officer’s Report at Paragraph 6.8, states “On balance I consider maintaining 
the requirements set out in the wording would be impossible to enforce...”. 
 
There is also the issue of “trespass” of the neighbours trees on to the applicants land. As 
mentioned in the reports attempts at planting smaller hedging plants, which would have a greater 
chance of survival than large trees, have failed due to the close proximity of the neighbours trees.  
These trees, as can be seen in the photographs in the Officer’s Report in Paragraphs 6.7 and 6.8, 
grow over the fence, and for any chance of new planting in the vicinity to survive the substantial 
growth of the neighbours trees over the applicants’ side of the boundary would have to be cut. 
This of course the owners of Fifield in principle the  have a right to do, so long as the cut timber 
is thrown back on to the neighbours side of the fence.  Although legally permissible this was not 
considered a neighbourly act and could be taken as an antagonistic approach and an action which 
is irreversible. In addition the substantial excavation required for the planting of the Yew trees is 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



highly likely to affected the roots of the neighbour’s trees and resulted in the trees dying. It was 
therefore considered better not to plant the trees that would serve no purpose and to leave the 
neighbours trees as they are.  The cutting of the neighbours trees and excavating the roots close 
to the trunks would be necessary to implement the planting condition that exists. A condition 
requiring such works that would result in the neighbour’s trees being substantially affected, and 
possibly dying is not  “reasonable in all other respects”.   
 
It can therefore be seen that the condition as it exists does not just fail one of the test, but four. 
 
The application before you to amend the condition is a sensible solution to resolve the issue of 
an invalid Condition, resulting in the whole condition falling away. 

Page 24



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

APPLICATION NO. P20/S2712/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 12.8.2020
PARISH BENSON
WARD MEMBER(S) Sue Cooper

Andrea Powell
APPLICANT Mr & Mrs Amanda Walker
SITE Old Telephone Exchange, Church Road Benson, 

OX10 6SF
PROPOSAL Replacing 2 existing brick former telephone 

exchange buildings with a new, one-bedroom 
residential dwelling, with live work studio above, re-
using the existing access and parking area (as 
amplified by Transport and Agricultural Information 
received 8 October and 19 October 2020 
respectively. Energy Statement received on 13 
January 2021 and amended by drwgno 20 TECB 
PPB02 rev D received on 1 February 2021 to revise 
garden layout and external wall material)

OFFICER Will Darlison

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application has been referred to Planning Committee at the discretion of the 

Planning Manager because of the Highway Safety concerns expressed by the District 
Councillor. This report sets out the officer’s recommendation of approval and how that 
has been reached with regard to the relevant material planning considerations and the 
development plan. 

1.2 The application site is located within the built-up limits of the village of Benson. It is 
the former telephone exchange and is situated between,34 Church Street (a dwelling) 
and the Benson Library site. There are two existing single storey buildings on the site, 
the smaller of the two is constructed of brick under plain tiles, whilst the larger is wire 
cut brick under plain tiles.

1.3 The site is located outside of but immediately adjacent to the Benson Conservation 
Area and none of the buildings on the site are listed. A plan identifying the is attached 
at Appendix 1 to this report.

1.4 The application seeks planning permission for the demolition of the existing buildings 
on the site and the erection of a detached one-bedroom dwelling with a live-work 
studio above. The existing access from Church Road would be retained and a 
driveway created to accommodate one car parking space.

1.5 The application has been amended to provide additional information in the form of a 
transport statement, arboricultural method statement, energy statement, a revised 
layout to the garden area and altered external wall materials to the proposed house.

1.6 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the Council’s 
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

Page 25

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2712/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Benson Parish Council – Objection

 The proposal would cram a larger residential layout than that previously refused 
on to this restricted plot.

 The design is ugly and completely out of character. It resembles an industrial 
unit alongside the conservation area.

County Archaeological Services – No objection 

Conservation Officer – Comments received.

 The site is outside the conservation area but within its setting.
 The south eastern side of the road is characterised by C20 buildings and 

does not contain buildings of architectural or historic interest.
 The site is currently well screened by trees and provides a welcome 

backdrop to the conservation area and listed buildings. 

Drainage – No objection subject to conditions

Forestry Officer – No objection subject to condition

Highways Liaison Officer – Objection (subsequently withdrawn)

 The proposal can only increase the regularity of movements and also the 
number.

 The proposal does not provide visibility splays in accordance with standards, 
vehicular and pedestrian. Without these this can only increase the risk to 
highway safety.

No objection (upon submission of additional information and review)

 The provision of an existing access indicates that the site was subject to 
vehicular movements.

Building Control Manager – No objection

Neighbour representations – Neighbour Support x (5)

 This is a very sensitive design in keeping with the area that would add to 
the visual amenity in comparison to the existing use of the site.

 Currently the site is an eyesore, and this would be an improvement.
 I am pleased to see this unused and unsightly plot put to good use 

providing a home to a local person.
 The design is innovative and will add to the character and mix or 

properties in the immediate area.
 One more driveway will not make the junction any worse than it currently 

is.

Neighbour Objections x (7)

 The application site is too small for a dwelling as shown in the refusal of 
previous applications.

 The access to the site referred to is not an established one.

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

 The access arrangement proposed would add to an already dangerous road 
junction at the top of Church Road.

 The site having only one parking space would likely result in a second car 
needing to park one the road.

 The design and appearance of the proposed dwelling is out of keeping with the 
area.

 The access to the site is unsafe.
 What is a ‘live work’ unit?
 Impact on the privacy of 34 Church Road through overlooking.

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P07/W1175 - Refused (23/01/2008) - Appeal dismissed (23/07/2008)

Conversion and extension of former telephone exchange to dwelling (as amended by 
drawing no.A3 1A accompanying letter from Agent dated 23 October 2007).

P05/W0333 - Refused (20/05/2005)
Change of use of former BT building from electrical engineers and contractors store to 
residential use and extension to link buildings.

P86/W0113 - Approved (26/03/1986)
Change of use from builders storage to electrical contractors storage of materials.

P85/W0694 - Approved (29/01/1986)
Use for light storage of goods and office files.  (Retrospective Application). (As clarified 
by applicant's letter dated 17 January 1986).

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 N/A

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES5 - Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES10 - Carbon Reduction
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV3 - Biodiversity
ENV7 - Listed Buildings
ENV8 - Conservation Areas
ENV9 - Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments
H1 – Delivering New Homes
INF4 - Water Resources
STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy
TRANS2 – Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals

5.3 Benson Neighbourhood Plan Policies:
NP1 - In-fill development
NP6 – Conservation and Heritage
NP7 – Design
NP14 – Change of use

Page 27

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P07/W1175
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P05/W0333
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P86/W0113
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P85/W0694


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

NP30 - Sustainable Drainage Systems

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
5.5 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG)

5.6 Other Relevant Legislation
5.7 Human Rights Act 1998

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

5.8 Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Principle of development.
 Impact on neighbours.
 Design, appearance and impact on the wider area.
 Impact on highway safety, parking and amenity space.
 Impact on trees.
 Impact on drainage.
 Impact on employment land.
 Impact on resources.
 Other issues.

6.2 Principle of development. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 requires applications for planning permission be determined in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

6.3 Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local 
planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far 
as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

6.4 Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should 
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.5 The spatial strategy in Policy STRAT1 of SOLP establishes a settlement hierarchy 
where the amount and location of new housing is related to the availability of facilities 
and services in order to achieve a sustainable pattern of development. Policy H1 of 
SOLP also deals with the delivery of new homes, allowing new housing on allocated 
sites (including Neighbourhood Plan (NP) allocations). Where there is no NP the 
residential development in the larger villages will be assessed under policy H4 of 
SOLP. In this case there is a NP in place and SOLP policy H1 is relevant and allows for 
new residential development where;

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

6.6 Policy NP1 of the Benson Neighbourhood Plan allows for infill development. The policy 
states that in-fill development, which reflect the scale and character of the village, will 
be supported within the built-up area of Benson.

6.7 Assessing the site against the SOLP H1 and Benson Neighbourhood Plan NP1 criteria, 

 The site is within the built-up limits of the village
 the site is set back from the highway and not an open space, 
 it has no special ecological or historic interest and 
 is not part of an important view. 

6.8 Therefore, the principle of the development is acceptable subject to it complying with 
the above criteria and other relevant development plan polices that shall be covered in 
this report. 

6.9 Impact on neighbours. Policy DES6 of the SOLP aims to ensure that development 
would not have significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses with 
respect to loss of light, dominance or visual intrusion, noise, emissions, pollution or 
external lighting. 

6.10 The proposed dwelling would share the south western boundary with 34 Church Road. 
The proposed dwelling would be situated in roughly the same position within the site as 
the two existing storage buildings, employing a rectangular footprint with the narrow 
end facing onto the side boundary with the neighbouring property. This would ensure 
that the primary expanse of the proposed rear elevation would be orientated so it is 
facing south east as shown in the proposed block plan extract below.

6.11

                           Proposed Block Plan

6.12 The site visits undertaken included visiting the neighbouring property at 34 Church 
Road and the part of the property located to the north east side of the house, which is 
an area of private garden. It is private amenity space for the property but the site as a 
whole is afforded land to the rear of the house as well. From the area of side garden, 
the existing storage buildings are clearly visible with their rear roof slopes being the 
dominant features. However given their orientation and bulk being located further to the 
east they are not overbearing or oppressive particularly given the multi-faceted nature 
of the site boundary between the two sites. This aspect of the neighbouring property is 
therefore one where built form is an established characteristic.

6.13 The proposed dwelling would have a curved roof that faces to the north so when 
viewed from the neighbour’s are of side garden, the western end and southern rear of 
the buildings would be visible. Whilst the proposed building would have a greater 

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

overall height than the existing, it would be located in a similar position within the site so 
that the building would continue to project eastwards and away from the amenity space 
of 34 Church Road. Therefore, I do not consider that it would be overbearing or 
oppressive to the extent to warrant resfual, particualrly given that available amenity 
space at the neighbouring site is not restricted to the side of the house. In addition, the 
proposed dwelling, being constructed of brick, would draw links back to the existing 
structure as oppossed to the originally proposed painted render, which would have had 
a considerably more stark apperance when viewed from the neighbouring property.

6.14 The proposed dwelling would have two windows on its rear elevation. The closest to the 
neighbour at 34 Church Road would be a tall window that would serve the living room 
at ground floor, no views are possibile from the upper storey as immediately above the 
living room is a vaulted ceiling/void because the studio only spans part of the upper 
floor. The other window situated on the rear elevation would serve the upper storey 
studio but this would be situated towards the eastern end of the building. It would 
provide a direct view out onto the area of land that lies due south and is part of the 
library site. It is anticipated that only oblique views to the right towards the neighbours 
site garden would be possible.

6.15 In terms of additional overshadowing upon 34 Church Road, I am of the view that this 
would not be harmful. This is on the basis that the proposed dwelling, like the buildings 
it would be replacing. would be situated to the north east with the front elevation set 
forward of the front elevation of 34 Chruch Road. This spatial relationshop is such that 
the primary areas of garden at this neighbouring property would not be cast into 
shadow as the sun progresses throughout the course of a given day.

6.16 I am therefore of the opinion that the proposed development would not be materially 
harmful to the amenity of the neighbouring property. It is however proposed to remove 
Class A Permitted Development rights to avoid the proliferation of windows that could 
pose harm to neighbour privacy.

6.17 Design, appearance and impact on the wider area. DES1 of the SOLP aims to 
ensure that all new development must be of a high-quality design with DES2 ensuring 
that it must respond to and enhance local character. Policy NP7 of the Benson 
Neighbourhood Plan states that all new development, including infill should be of a 
high-quality design that respects the distinctive character of the locality and accord with 
the neighbourhood plan Design Statement.

6.18 The existing buildings are of functional appearance and have no particular architectural 
or historic merit. There are limited views from the public realm, and they make no 
positive contribution to the surrounding area or to the setting of the adjacent 
conservation area. Their presence in the street scene could become more prominent if 
screening trees were to be removed.

6.19 The proposed dwelling would be of a contemporary design. The footprint would be an 
uncomplicated, rectangular form with a curved quarter circle roof sloping up and away 
from the north. The roof would be of a standing seemed metal construction with the 
external walls in brick.

6.20 In my opinion would, the design would result in a visually interesting melding of 
traditional plan form and materials and a distinctive approach to roof form and material 
that would add to the variety of architectural styles on this side of Church Road. It would 
broadly maintain the scale of built-form that has characterised this site by not making 
the building full two-storey in height and by maintaining the position it would occupy 
with the plot. I consider it to comply with the relevant Development Plan policies.

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

6.21 As the site is located adjacent to the Benson Conservation Area and there are listed 
buildings in the vicinity, policies ENV6 and ENV8 of the SOLP seek to ensure that new 
development be sensitively designed and should not cause harm to the historic 
environment. This includes harm to significance through damaging their setting. This is 
supported by Policy NP6 of the Benson Neighbourhood Plan which seeks to conserve 
and enhance the character and appearance of the Benson Conservation Area and 
listed buildings and their setting.

6.22 The Conservation Officer has provided comments, highlighting that the south eastern 
side of the road is characterised by C20 buildings that are not of architectural or historic 
interest. Interest comes from buildings that fall within the conservation area, notably the 
grade II listed The Old Vicarage, and the Benson War Memorial, which are close to the 
site. There are no historic associations between these and the site and the relationship 
is purely one of setting in a visual sense with the pavement and bench at the front of 
the site providing good views of this part of the conservation area. The site is currently 
well screened by trees on the land situated to the north which lies between it and the 
pavement and that this provides a welcome backdrop to the heritage assets. The 
existing buildings are well screened although their form and materials would not be out 
of keeping with the area if they were to become more visible.

6.23 The Conservation Officer raised a number of matters that could negatively impact upon 
the area. For instance, the need for an appropriate approach to boundary treatment to 
ensure that the amenity space of the occupants is sufficiently private without the use of 
a solid means of enclosure which would block views into the site from the conservation 
area  and diminish the contribution it makes to its setting through it openness and 
greenness. This has been addressed through the inclusion of 0.9 metre arch topped 
railings at the front of site. However, in order to provide privacy for the amenity space 
there is proposed a 1.4-metre-high wall with 0.5 metre trellis above set within the 
frontage of the site. This is considered acceptable on the basis that the verdant, treed 
area that provides the contribution to the setting does not derive from the application 
site itself but from the land to the north east as can be clearly identified in the 
photograph below to the left of the bench. This area is not being developed as part of 
the application and shall remain. 

6.24 Some comments suggest that there would be little space for landscaping or greenery 
on the site and there is concern about the impact of the development on adjacent trees, 
given that they provide dense screening. The matter of the impact of the proposals on 
the trees is discussed in more detail starting at para. 6.38 of this report. However, in 

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

summary the trees on the adjacent site to the north east are protected by a tree 
preservation order and those not are not a constraint to development in the view of the 
Forestry Officer. The trees can be adequately protected during the construction works 
by condition in my view.

6.25 The design of the dwelling is contemporary, and some comments have suggested that 
the curved roof would be out of keeping with the character of the area. However, in my 
view, the building would not be unduly prominent or detract from the character of the 
area given its small scale relative to other buildings nearby. The Conservation Officer 
did however raise concerns about the originally proposed external wall material being 
painted render as this would be likely to draw more attention to the building visually. In 
response to this the materials to the exterior of the building was changed to brick as this 
was agreed to provide a more subtle and locally distinctive finish which would offset the 
contemporary approach to the design and roof finish. It is my opinion that this alongside 
the set back from the road and screening, the development would not be materially 
harmful to the setting of nearby heritage assets.

6.26 Impact on highway safety, parking and amenity space. With respect to highway 
safety matters the advice from Central Government set out in the NPPF makes it clear 
that development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
residual cumulative impacts of the development are severe. 

6.27 The term severe is locally interpreted as situations, which have a high impact, likely to 
result in loss of life, or a higher possibility of occurrence with a lower impact. 

6.28 Policy TRANS5 seeks to ensure that development does not harm highway safety and 
provides for sufficient parking and turning areas and TRANS2 promotes the use of 
sustainable forms of transport such as walking and cycling. 

6.29 Highway Safety: The initial comments from the Highway Officer at Oxfordshire County 
Council recommended that the proposed development be refused on safety grounds. 
At the time it was their view that the previous telephone exchange use would have 
generated a low level and infrequent number of vehicular movements. It was their view 
that the proposed development would increase the regularity of movements and their 
number. In addition, the proposal did not provide any visibility splay. As such they 
considered that the proposals would increase risk to Highway Safety and to other users 
of the highway within the vicinity.

6.30 A Transport Statement (TS) has been submitted to address these concerns. In the light 
of the TS the Highway Officer now has no objection to the proposal. It is clear that there 
is an existing dropped kerb and vehicular access at the site, which indicates that there 
have been vehicular movements accessing and egressing the site in the past. The 
proposed use as a one-bedroom dwelling, would be likely to generate between four and 
six movements a day, and given the facilities that are available within walking distance, 
that figure may be lower.

6.31 The Highway Officer has taken into account the fact that the last use of the site was not 
as a telephone exchange. It would appear that from 1985 the buildings have been used 
for storage and from 2007 the buildings have been in a commercial use. It was 
accepted by the Highways Officer that this use and the available floor area of storage 
could realistically equate to three to four trips a day based on the lawful use of the site.

6.32 With respect to the matter of visibility splays to secure pedestrian safety at the site, the 
Highway Officer is of the view that the site can accommodate the 2m x 2m 

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

requirements within the frontage so as to accord with standards. This would be ensured 
through the attachment of an appropriately worded condition. 

6.33 I have sought further clarification from the Highways Officer in respect of outstanding 
concerns, which include the lack of turning space within the site to allow egress in a 
forward gear. The Highway Officer has confirmed that, whilst it is not an ideal 
arrangement, The Manual for Streets indicates that there is no evidence that reversing 
out of an access is more dangerous than egressing in a forward gear.

6.34 There is an existing dropped kerb serving the site and the established lawful 
commercial use of the site provides for comparable levels of traffic movements entering 
and leaving the site. The Highways Officer confirmed that on this basis there would not 
be sufficient evidence from a highways perspective to warrant a recommendation of 
refusal. In addition, given the proximity of the site to various facilities within Benson, the 
use of the private vehicle would be likely for work and or at the weekend when peak 
travel timers are lower.

6.35 In the opinion of the Highway Officer the impact of the development in itself or 
cumulatively is not severe (the test required by the NPPF). In the circumstances there 
are no grounds to refuse the application on highway safety matters.

6.36 Parking: The proposed development would involve the creation of a one-bedroom 
residential unit and 1 car parking space is required to meet standards. The proposed 
site plan demonstrates that this space can be accommodated within the site. Therefore, 
it is my opinion that there would be an acceptable level of off-street parking provision 
that is in accordance with policy and in light of the level of facilities within walking 
distance of the proposed dwelling.

6.37 Amenity space: Policy DES5 relates to outdoor amenity space and states a private 
outdoor garden or outdoor amenity space, or alternatively a shared outdoor amenity 
area should be provided for all new dwellings. The amount of land that should be 
provided for the garden or amenity space will be determined by the size of the dwelling 
proposed and by the character of surrounding development.

6.38 The South Oxfordshire Design Guide advises at Section 7 that for one-bedroom 
dwellings 35 square metres of amenity space should be provided. The inability to 
provide these minimum standards can often be an indicator of overdevelopment. The 
practical usability of the primary amenity space has been the subject of close scrutiny 
by virtue of it being located between the north elevation of the dwelling and the frontage 
of the site where the pavement and a bench is located. Revisions to the internal layout 
have been secured to overcome the concerns about noise and privacy and a 1.4-
metre-high screening wall with a 0.6 metres high trellis over has been provided. This 
would also afford the extra screening from views from the front facing upper storey 
window of the neighbour at 34 Church Road.

6.39 Taking account of the available land and the overall size of the plot the dwelling would 
have a garden area that meets the minimum standard. I am therefore satisfied that the 
proposal accords with Policy DES5. To ensure this going forward Permitted 
Development rights for extensions and porches shall be removed through appropriately 
worded conditions.

6.40 The outlook of the windows to the dwelling on the south and east elevations as well as 
the perception of the circulation space around the perimeter of the proposed dwelling 
would be prevented from being excessively claustrophobic by avoiding a solid 
boundary treatment. Instead railings along the boundary are to be used which would 

Page 33



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

have a beneficial level of visual permeability to afford the site and dwelling natural light 
and views beyond the confines of the site. I am satisfied that this would be sufficiently 
beneficial to overcome the close proximity the dwelling would have to the boundaries. 

6.41 Impact on trees. Policy ENV1 aims to protect the landscape, countryside and rural 
areas against harmful development. Development will only be permitted where it 
protects and, where possible enhances, features that contribute to the nature and 
quality of South Oxfordshire’s landscapes, in particular trees (including individual trees, 
groups of trees and woodlands), hedgerows and field boundaries.

6.42 Whilst the application site falls outside of the Benson Conservation Area there is a 
mature lime tree situated due north west of the existing building on the site which is 
protected by a tree preservation order. There are also several other trees growing 
within close proximity to the existing and proposed buildings. 

6.43 A tree survey and arboricultural impact assessment has been submitted. The Forestry 
Officer has commented that there are two sycamore (T2 and T3) present outside the 
application site area have limited arboricultural value and as such they should not be 
considered as a constraint to development. The protected Lime tree (G1) which has 
both landscape and arboricultural value can be protected during construction through 
tree protection measures and this can be secured by condition.

6.44 The Forestry Officer has no objection to the development from an arboricultural 
perspective. They did draw attention to the fact that the previously discussed sycamore 
trees (T2 and T3) were not under the ownership of the applicant and as such they 
would have very limited control over them, with common law rights only covering to the 
ability to prune anything back to the boundary line.

6.45 Impact on drainage. Policy EP4 relates to matters of flooding and states that the risk 
of flooding will be minimised through; 

i) directing new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding;
ii) ensuring that all new development addresses the effective management of 

all sources of flood risk;
iii) ensuring that development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; 

and
iv) ensuring wider environmental benefits of development in relation to flood 

risk.

6.46 Policy INF4 relates to water resources and requires that all new development proposals 
must demonstrate that there is or will be adequate water supply, surface water, foul 
drainage and sewerage treatment capacity to serve the whole development. Policy 
NP30 of the Benson Neighbourhood Plan seeks to ensure that development includes 
sustainable drainage systems to manager the risk of surface water flooding and foul 
sewer overload and prevent increase to flood risk elsewhere in Benson.

6.47 Updated modelling information from the Environment Agency has been submitted and 
this has clarified that the site is wholly within Flood Zone 1. The Drainage Engineer has 
no objection to the proposal subject to the conditions requiring the submission of 
Surface Water and Foul Water drainage schemes prior to the commencement of the 
development. This will ensure that SOLP Policies EP4 and INF4 as well as Benson 
Neighbourhood Plan Policy NP30 are complied with. 

6.48 Impact on employment land. Policy EMP3 of the SOLP sets out that the loss of 
employment land will only be permitted where it has been established that the 

Page 34



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

employment use is no longer viable or there it is evidence that there is no market 
interest. Policy NP14 of the Benson Neighbourhood Plan takes a similar stance but this 
is restricted to A1 retail use buildings in the defined village centre, which the application 
site falls outside of.

6.49 The storage use of the buildings has ceased, and it is clear that the buildings are in a 
poor condition and located in a small site. The buildings are small and do not have of 
any sort of facilities within them such as toilets, water or heating, in my view, they are 
not buildings that are realistically viable for employment purposes. Under these 
circumstances I do not view the change of use to residential to be problematic. 
Furthermore, the current proposal includes a first-floor studio element and it is intended 
for this to allow for home working to be undertaken from the property. 

6.50 Impact on resources. Policy DES10 requires that all new build residential 
development must achieve at least a 40% reduction in carbon emissions compared with 
a code 2013 Building Regulations compliant base case. This reduction is to be secured 
through renewable energy and other low carbon technologies and/ or energy efficiency 
measures. It goes on to state that an energy statement must be submitted to 
demonstrate compliance with the policy and how the development will comply with this.

6.51 An energy statement has been submitted to demonstrate compliance with Policy 
DES10 which has been reviewed by our Building Control team to establish whether the 
required standard of reduction can be achieved. The energy statement was confirmed 
to be acceptable with regards to the requirement of Policy DES10 and a condition has 
been recommended to ensure its implementation and the submission of a verification 
report.

6.52 Other issues. The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and applies to 
relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development. In this case the CIL is liable for the creation of dwellings on the basis of
a net increase in floor space in connection with the creation of new residential units.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted as the development would be 

acceptable in principle. It would be of an acceptable size, location and design that 
would not adversely impact the character and appearance of the site or that of the 
setting of the Benson Conservation Area or nearby listed buildings. The site affords for 
adequate amenity space, parking provision and would not result in severe harm to 
Highway Safety. It would not result in a materially harmful impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties and in conjunction with the attached conditions the proposal 
accords with development plan policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning Permission

1 : Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2 : Approved plans 
3 : Sample materials required (walls and roof)
4 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1, Class A) – No extensions or openings
5 :  Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1, Class B) – No roof extensions
6 : Withdrawal of P.D. (Part 1, Class D) – No porches
7 : Vision splay details 
8 : Parking space

Page 35



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

9 :  Tree Protection (General)
10 : Surface Water Drainage
11 : Energy Statement Verification
12 : Foul Water Drainage

Author:        Will Darlison
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 36



Printed on 21/08/2020 11:53:14
   for BCP

This map is reproduced from Ordance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office Crown copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings
South Oxfordshire District Council / 100018668 / 2020

Reference:P20/S2712/FUL
Page 37

Agenda Item 7P20/S2712/FUL

SAV_NANSRI
Typewriter
Appendix 1



This drawing is the property of David Parker Architects Ltd. Copyright is reserved by  them and is issued on the condition that it is not copied or disclosed by or to any unauthorised persons without the prior consent in writing by David Parker Architects Ltd.©
Only to be scaled from for planning and land registry purposes. All figured dimensions are in millimeters unless otherwise stated. Contractors must verify all dimensions before starting work and any discrepancies are to be reported to David Parker Architects Ltd

Client
Site Location PlanMr & Mrs Jones

june 20

AW

1:1250 @A4

Drawing

Scale

Drawn

Date

Dwg No.
20 TECB
SLP01

A

pre planning
Status

Revision

No. Date: Revision Notes: Revised By:

Project

32 A Church Road Benson

Former Telephone Exchange Building

DP Architects
The Old Brewery Tap, 3 Shirburn Street, Watlington, Oxfordshire, OX49 5BU

Email:Tel: 01491 613 066 mail@dparchitects.co.uk

a r c h i t e c t s
design planning architecture

A 12/08/2020 Red line amended

6

2 8

War M
eml

9

4

11

14

CASTLE SQUARE

2a

6

2

4

24

32

1

1 to 9

10

34

Library

2

Birm
ingham

 Yard

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2020. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

191700

46
16

50

46
17

00

Church
 Road

[Drawing Title]
Scale: 1:12501

0 20 30 40 50 M

scale 1:1250 @ A4

Appendix 2

Page 38



Only to be scaled from for planning and land registry purposes. All figured dimensions are in millimeters unless otherwise stated. Contractors must verify all dimensions before starting work and any discrepancies are to be reported to David Parker Architects Ltd This drawing is the property of David Parker Architects Ltd. Copyright is reserved by  them and is issued on the condition that it is not copied or disclosed by or to any unauthorised persons without the prior consent in writing by David Parker Architects Ltd.©

No. Date: Revision Notes: Revised By: Client

Mr & Mrs Jones
Project

Former Telephone Exchange Building

32 A Church Road Benson

EXISTING PLANS, BLOCK PLAN & ELEVATIONS

20 TECB EPE 01  

pre planningjune 20

AW

1:100 @ A3

Drawing

Scale

Drawn

Date Status

Dwg No. Revision

DP Architects
The Old Brewery Tap, 3 Shirburn Street, Watlington, Oxfordshire, OX49 5BU

Email:Tel: 01491 613 066 mail@dparchitects.co.uk

a r c h i t e c t s
design planning architecture

Plans
Scale: 1:1004

0 5 M

scale 1:100 @ A1

Elevations
Scale: 1:1005

North Elevations West Elevations

0 5 M

scale 1:100 @ A1

Elevations
Scale: 1:1006

South Elevations East Elevation

2

War M
eml

11

24

1 to 9

34

Library

191700

46
16

50

Church
 Road

Block Plan
Scale: 1:5007

0 5 10 15 20 M

scale 1:500 @ A1

P
age 39



Only to be scaled from for planning and land registry purposes. All figured dimensions are in millimeters unless otherwise stated. Contractors must verify all dimensions before starting work and any discrepancies are to be reported to David Parker Architects Ltd This drawing is the property of David Parker Architects Ltd. Copyright is reserved by  them and is issued on the condition that it is not copied or disclosed by or to any unauthorised persons without the prior consent in writing by David Parker Architects Ltd.©

No. Date: Revision Notes: Revised By: Client

Mr & Mrs Jones
Project

Former Telephone Exchange Building

32 A Church Road Benson

PROPOSED PLANS & BLOCK PLAN

20 TECB PP 02 D

Pre planningjune 20

AW

1:100 @ A3

Drawing

Scale

Drawn

Date Status

Dwg No. Revision

DP Architects
The Old Brewery Tap, 3 Shirburn Street, Watlington, Oxfordshire, OX49 5BU

Email:Tel: 01491 613 066 mail@dparchitects.co.uk

a r c h i t e c t s
design planning architecture

A 25/07/2020 Amenity areas indicated + cycle store

B 24/09/2020 Boundary treatment and materials amended

C 20/12/2020 External amenity area amended

D 01/02/2021 External amenity area amended

2

War M
eml

11

24

1 to 9

34

Library

191700

46
16

50

Church
 Road

Propsed Block Plan
Scale: 1:5008

0 5 10 15 20 M

scale 1:500 @ A1

T1  TPO 05/1978

BBB

Ground Floor Plan
Scale: 1:1003

Living Shower

bed

Total external amenity area = 121m2

external seating 

area with 1.4m

high wall and 0.5m

trellis overcycle 

site lines over 2m x 2m

can be achieved

existing 1.8m high CB fence

proposed 1.8m high metal railings

pr
op

os
ed

 1
.8

m
 h

ig
h

m
et

al
 ra

ilin
gs

proposed 1.8m high metal railings

proposed 0.9m
 high arch top m

etal railings

Proposed Materials

Facing Walls Brick skin outer with inner timber frame

Roof Metal rolled roof

Windows White painted timber windows

bins air source 
heat 
pump

Studio Plan
Scale: 1:1009

Void Studio

B

B

B

P
age 40



Only to be scaled from for planning and land registry purposes. All figured dimensions are in millimeters unless otherwise stated. Contractors must verify all dimensions before starting work and any discrepancies are to be reported to David Parker Architects Ltd This drawing is the property of David Parker Architects Ltd. Copyright is reserved by  them and is issued on the condition that it is not copied or disclosed by or to any unauthorised persons without the prior consent in writing by David Parker Architects Ltd.©

No. Date: Revision Notes: Revised By: Client

Mr & Mrs Jones
Project

Former Telephone Exchange Building

32 A Church Road Benson

PROPOSED SECTION & ELEVATION

20 TECB PE 03  

pre planningjune 20

AW

1:100 @ A3

Drawing

Scale

Drawn

Date Status

Dwg No. Revision

DP Architects
The Old Brewery Tap, 3 Shirburn Street, Watlington, Oxfordshire, OX49 5BU

Email:Tel: 01491 613 066 mail@dparchitects.co.uk

a r c h i t e c t s
design planning architecture

Proposed Elevations
Scale: 1:10016

Southern Elevation Western Elevation

Materials:

Walls - render
Roof  - zinc

Proposed Elevations
Scale: 1:10017

Northern Elevation Eastern Elevation

Section
Scale: 1:10018

0 5 M

scale 1:100 @ A1

P
age 41

SAV_WILDAR
Rectangle



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

1

APPLICATION NO. P20/S4298/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 12.11.2020
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBER(S) Pieter-Paul Barker

Kate Gregory
David Bretherton

APPLICANT Mrs Amy Burchell
SITE 62 Ludsden Grove, Thame, OX9 3BZ
PROPOSAL Construction of garden building for part personal use 

and part business use as a hairdressing salon.
OFFICER Daniella Rogers

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee at the request of Councillor 

Pieter-Paul Barker. The Town Council’s views conflict with the officer’s 
recommendation of approval. 

1.2 The application site, which is shown on the plan attached as Appendix A, is occupied 
by a terraced, two-storey, dwelling located within the built-up limits of Thame. The site 
does not lie within any designated area. 

1.3 Neighbouring properties include 64 Ludsden Grove to the west and 60 Ludsden 
Grove to the south east. There is a shared walkway between 60 and 62 Ludsden 
Grove to gain separate access to their rear gardens. 

1.4 This application seeks permission to construct a garden building for part personal use 
and part business use (Hairdressing Salon). 

1.5 A site visit was conducted from the application site to assess the relationship between 
neighbouring properties. 

1.6 A copy of the plans associated with the application are attached as Appendix B, 
whilst other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the 
council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 Thame Town Council – Object 

 Unneighbourly 
 Access via a shared alleyway 
 Noise/smell disturbance 

South -Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objections 

Environmental Protection Team – No objections 

Food Safety – No objections 

Neighbours (2) – Objects
 Highway safety and parking 
 Use of shared access and privacy concerns 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S4298/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

2

 Unneighbourly noise from salon 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P20/S2862/LDP - Refused (23/10/2020)

Proposed garden building at bottom of garden as a part-time hair salon.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 N/A

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The policies within the SOLP 2035, of relevance to this application, are in general 
conformity with the provisions of the NPPF and therefore this application can be 
determined against the relevant policies below.

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:

DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES8 - Promoting Sustainable Design
ENV12 - Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural Environment 
and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution)
EMP2 - Range, Size and Mix of Employment Premises
H20 - Extensions to Dwellings
TRANS5  -  Consideration of Development Proposals

5.2 Thame Neighbourhood Plan

ESDQ16 - Development must Relate Well to its Site

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4 Other Relevant Legislation

Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Design and character
 Residential amenity
 Access and Parking
 Other material planning considerations

Page 44

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P20/S2862/LDP


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

3

6.2 Design and character

 Policy DES1 of the SOLP 2035 advises that all new development must be of a 
high-quality design that reflects the positive features that make up the character 
of the local area and both physically and visually enhances and compliments the 
surroundings.

 Policy H20 of the SOLP 2035 advises that extensions to dwellings or the 
erection and extension of ancillary buildings within the curtilage of a dwelling, 
will be permitted provided that:

i) amenity areas are provided for the extended dwelling that accord 
with the South Oxfordshire Design Guide; and the proposal does 
not conflict with other policies in the Development Plan

6.3 The garden room will be timber clad with clear glass windows facing the main dwelling 
and frosted glass windows on side elevations. The roof is mono-pitched with black 
rubber. The overall design is uncomplicated, and the building will remain subservient to 
the main dwelling and will not harm its surroundings. 

6.4 Residential amenity

 Policy DES6 of the SOLP 2035 advises that development proposals should 
demonstrate that they will not result in significant adverse impacts on the 
amenity of neighbouring uses, when considering both individual and cumulative 
impacts, in relation to the following factors: 

i) loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight;
ii) dominance or visual intrusion;

6.5 The garden building is situated towards the rear of the site and set away from 
neighbouring boundaries.

One chair will be used within the proposed salon and will only be visited by one person 
at a time. The hours of operation will be restricted, by condition, to between 08:00 - 
18:00 on a Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday and 08:00-15:00 on a 
Saturday.

Some concerns have been raised regarding the use of the shared walkway to gain 
access to the rear gardens of number 60 and 62 Ludsden Grove. The salon would not 
generate a significant level of footfall or visitors and Environmental Protection have 
raised no concerns to the proposed development or its use.   

For these reasons, I consider that the level of activity generated would not be significant 
or cause harm to the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 

6.6 Access and Parking

 Criteria ii of Policy H20 of the SOLP 2035 advises that adequate and 
satisfactory parking is provided in accordance with the current Oxfordshire 
County Council parking standards, unless specific evidence is provided to justify 
otherwise

 Policy TRANS5 of the SOLP 2035 advises that Proposals for all types of 
development will, where appropriate:

Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

4

i) provide for a safe and convenient access for all users to the highway 
network; 

ii) provide safe and convenient routes for cyclists and pedestrians, both 
within the development, and including links to rights of way and other off-
site walk and cycle routes where relevant;

6.7 The Local Highways Officer has provided the following consultation response:

The proposal seeks the construction of a garden building for part personal and part 
business use as a hairdressing salon. 

The site is located within a Cul-de-Sac, in which is it considered, vehicle speeds and 
traffic are relatively low.

The proposal is likely to increase movements to and from the dwelling, however this is 
considered of a low volume not to warrant a recommendation for refusal.

Furthermore, given the nature of the carriageway in this location and parking 
restrictions within the vicinity, single and double yellow lines, indiscriminate and/or 
obstructive parking can be enforced. No change is proposed to the existing access 
arrangements. 

The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway network.

After reviewing the supplied plans and documentation, the Highway Authority has No 
Objection to the proposal on the basis of Highway Safety.

6.8 Other material planning considerations 

The Food safety Officer has provided the following consultation response:

I have looked at the plans with regard to the Food and Health and Safety aspects of a 
business being carried on there. I have no adverse comments to make regarding this 
application. Should there be any health and safety issues these would fall under the 
remit of the Health and Safety Executive.

6.9 Renewable energy:

Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development must demonstrate how they are 
seeking to reduce greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design, 
landscape and planting. This is a modest garden room, which could be constructed 
within permitted development rights if incidental to the residential use of the dwelling, 
with limited scope for reducing greenhouse emissions.

6.10 Community Infrastructure Levy

The proposed development is not liable to pay CIL as the net increase in residential 
floor space does not exceed 100m2.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The application is recommended for planning permission as the proposal complies with 

the relevant Development Plan policies, Supplementary Planning Guidance and 
Government Guidance. Subject to the attached conditions, Officers do not consider that 
the proposed development would be harmful to the character and appearance of the 
site, the surrounding area or the amenity of neighbours.

Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

5

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions

1 : Commencement of development within three years 
2 : Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
3 : Materials to match existing
4 : Restricted hours of operation 

Author: Dani Rogers
Email:   Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:        01235 422600

Page 47

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



NATl0NAL 
MAP CENTRE 

0 

Suoolied bv: 
License number: 
Produced: 
Serial number: 

South Oxfordshire District 
100031961 
21/08/2020 
2259266 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020. OS 100031961 

OS Plan B&W 

Metres 

0 5 W Z � � � 

Scale: 1 :1250 

Plot centre co-ordinates: 
Download file: 
Project name: 

Mop data 

471152.205980 
62 Ludsden Grove 125 
62_Ludsden_Grove_125 

0 

Appendix A

Page 49

Agenda Item 8P20/S4298/FUL



Appendix B

Page 50



P
age 51



Page 52



P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

APPLICATION NO. P21/S0290/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 2.2.2021
PARISH SOUTH STOKE
WARD MEMBER(S) Maggie Filipova-Rivers
APPLICANT Mr & Mrs C Dodridge
SITE Fifield House, Ferry Road, South Stoke, RG8 0JL
PROPOSAL Variation of condition 5 (removal of the words "...but 

to the east and south of the garage on the boundary 
to The Old Forge House..." on application ref. 
P19/S1072/FUL. The original description of 
P19/S1072/FUL was

"Alterations to design of rear elevation of house and 
provision of building in garden following approval of 
replacement dwelling under permission 
P16/S3861/FUL".

OFFICER Neil Davies

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application has been referred to the Planning Committee following a call-in 

request by the Ward Member Councillor Filipova-Rivers on the grounds that not 
providing the agreed landscaping is unneighbourly.  This report sets out the officer’s 
recommendation of approval and how that has been reached with regard to the 
relevant material planning considerations and the development plan. 

1.2 Fifield Cottage is a detached two-storey dwelling accessed off a short track from the 
highway within the built-up limits of South Stoke. The property sits within a large plot 
and benefits from a detached garage.

1.3 The property is not listed but does sit within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB), Flood zone 2, an area of known archaeological constraints and an 
area where protected species (bats) are known to reside. A plan identifying the site in 
greater context is attached at Appendix 1 to this report.

1.4 Planning permission was granted for a replacement dwelling in 2016 under application 
reference P16/S3861/FUL for the erection of a detached two storey dwelling and 
detached pitched roof garage. The condition requiring a landscaping scheme was 
discharged under application P18/S0727/DIS and approved the details shown on 
drawing no. TDS 345/FC 7001 REV D. 

The 2016 application was amended under application P19/S1072/FUL, as a part 
retrospective application to extend the canopy on left side elevation, add flue to left 
side elevation in lieu of chimney, revise roof layout on single storey rear elevation, 
revise access and turning area and a revised landscaping scheme. This application 
included a revised landscaping scheme shown on drawing no TDS 345/FC2000 L. 
The details of the new drawing were agreed and a condition to ensure that the 
approved scheme was implemented was included.
Details of the landscaping schemes are included at Appendix 2 to this report.

Page 55

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P21/S0290/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

1.5 The landscaping condition relating to the original application (P16/3861/FUL) is as 
follows – 

 

The planning condition relating to application P19/S1072/FUL is as follows –

1.6 This is an application under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act for the 
variation of condition 5 on application ref. P19/S1072/FUL. The variation to the 
approved landscaping scheme is to remove the requirement to provide new yew trees 
on the east and south of the garage. 

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
2.1 South Stoke Parish Council – Object

 The planting detailed serves the job of the screening as per application 
P16/S3861/FUL. It does appear that appropriate screening with the appropriate 
Yew trees, to provide the screening above the fence for the neighbour is 
possible and should be planted in accordance with P16/S3861/FUL

Neighbour representations – Object (x2)
 Owners have inherited an outstanding compliance issue with this development 

that has a history of non-compliance with approved plans.
 Cover letter from agent does not recognise all trees along our entire boundary 

with Fifield Cottage were removed and the impact of this on our property was 
substantial. In recognition of that a provision was made for adequate 
landscaping and planning permission for Fifield House was granted on 23rd July 
2019 that includes Condition 5. 

 The amended parking and turning provision implementation at Fifield House has 
led to narrower borders than originally proposed or as indicated on the approved 
plans. The trees and hedge plants are all too close to the boundary fence to 
allow for proper development and facilitate pruning and damage to the fence 
which already shows signs of movement. 

 The approved planting plan was not followed along the boundary between 
Fifield House and Waises i.e. trees not where indicated. 

 The extent of the 3m pleached hornbeam hedge is not shown accurately. Whilst 
it provides some mutual screening and privacy it does not provide adequate 
screening for the master bedroom, lounge and garden at Waises being 
deciduous and some component specimens appear to have died. 

 The temporary privacy screen we have erected will be removed when the hedge 
and trees have the hedge and trees have established and matured enough to
screen and provide privacy for our property

 We believe the Developer s Agent should implement all the landscaping 
responsibilities and undertake remedial works in accordance with the 
permission granted and with the approved plans including Condition 5 without 
amendment as this has mutual benefit to Waises, Old Forge House and Fifield 
House.

 The removal of the words requested by the applicant means that the application 
seeks to remove the obligation to landscape our boundary leaving the only 
landscaping obligation to be that in respect of Waises and Ashmount House as 
shown by TDS345/FC7001D.

 Yew trees have not been planted as per the approved landscaping plans to the 
rear or side of the garage.

 The lack of landscaping has been the subject of two enforcement investigations.
 The revised scheme does nothing more than seek to renege on a current 

obligation.
 The arboricultural report commissioned by the applicants is neither independent 

or acceptable. The Council should commission such advice.
 The advice is in respect of “a hedge”. Mature 12 foot high yew trees are not 

hedges.
 The advice is in respect of the side of the garage and gives no advice in respect 

of the void that exists between the garage and the house. More specifically, the 
side passageway to the garage being 1.4m wide narrowing to 1.1m wide is in 
fact wider in the main than the passageway behind the garage which is 1.2m 
where 4 yew trees have been planted.

Page 57



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

 The yew trees on the back of the garage have flourished. Yew trees grow very
well in shaded areas. There is more than sufficient light along the side of the 
garage

 We doubt whether landscaping would even have been considered for the 
garden room in Waises due to the presence of existing trees on the site 
removed by the developer during the development of Fifield House.

 We don’t understand what substantial tree screen is under our control as stated 
by the agent. Certainly, we can currently see the development from every rear 
window of our house.

 Previous planting consisted of 4ft beech saplings not the yew trees on the plan.
 The agent refers to the report prepared by HEIGHTS and maintains no planting 

would be successful. This is clearly incorrect for the reasons already stated. The 
agent also states that branches overhanging the fence line would require 
cutting. This is incorrect as shown by the successful planting of 2 of the yew 
trees to the rear that are shaded by the leylandii.

 Previous assurances to neighbours and Council officials by the developer that 
landscaping scheme would and could be met.

 We would expect the planning officer responsible for this application to gain 
confirmation from an independent tree officer that the tree planting scheme can 
successfully be completed.

Forestry Officer (South and Vale) – No objection.

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 P19/S4022/PEO – Response (02/12/2019)

Small single storey extensions to the rear (below the existing balcony) and front of the 
existing house, together with internal alterations.

P19/S1072/FUL - Approved (23/07/2019)
Alterations to design of rear elevation of house and provision of building in garden 
following approval of replacement dwelling under permission P16/S3861/FUL. (As 
amended by drawing no.s TDS 345 / FC2001 E and TDS 345 / FC2000 K to extend 
canopy on left side elevation (retrospective), add flue to left side elevation in lieu of 
chimney (retrospective), revise roof layout on single storey rear elevation 
(retrospective), revised access and turning area and revised landscaping 
(retrospective) received on 9 May 2019 and drawing no TDS 345/FC2000 L to amend 
landscaping scheme on 19 June 2019.

P18/S4145/HH - Withdrawn (13/02/2019)
Provision of a garden room in the rear garden, (retrospective) alteration to roof above 
stairs, and provision of balcony to bedroom on flat roof area above kitchen. (as 
amended by drawings TDS  345 FC2000E and TDS 345 FC2001C to remove patio 
door to bedroom and balcony above kitchen and replace with window and hipped roof 
arrangement received on 24 January 2019)

P18/S0727/DIS - Approved (03/04/2018)
Discharge of conditions 3- materials, 5-levels details and 6-landscaping on application 
P16/S3861/FUL (as amended by plan received 21st March 2018)

P18/S0724/NM - Approved (03/04/2018)
Non material amendment sought to make alterations to window and door positions as 
originally approved on application P16/S3861/FUL 

Page 58

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S4022/PEO
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S1072/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4145/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S0727/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S0724/NM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

Demolition of existing dwelling and garage and construct replacement dwelling and 
garage (as amended and amplified by Bat Survey Report received 16th May 2017 and 
Location, Site & Elevation plans received 19th May 2017, plans & information recieved 
12th July 2017 & Bat Survey Report recieved 15th August 2017).

P16/S3861/FUL - Approved (27/10/2017)
Demolition of existing dwelling and garage and construct replacement dwelling and 
garage (as amended and amplified by Bat Survey Report received 16th May 2017 and 
Location, Site & Elevation plans received 19th May 2017, plans & information recieved 
12th July 2017 & Bat Survey Report recieved 15th August 2017).

P14/S2065/PEO – Response (15/07/2014)
Follow-up to application P14/S1338/PEO.  Pre-application advice bat survey required, 
as discussed and agreed with Dominic Lamb (Countryside Officer) for site visit/loft 
conversion.

P14/S1338/PEO – Response (16/06/2014)
a) Conversion of existing bungalow to a two storey dwelling b) Erection new of two-
storey dwelling on the current footprint.  c) Erection of larger two-storey dwelling 
extending 10ft into patio area (but still more than 7 metres from rear boundary).

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 N/A

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Development Plan Policies

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1  -  Delivering High Quality Development
DES2  -  Enhancing Local Character
DES6  -  Residential Amenity
ENV1  -  Landscape and Countryside
STRAT1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 Neighbourhood Plan
South Stoke does not currently have a neighbourhood plan.

5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5 Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the 
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities 
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 When assessing section 73 applications the Council can only consider the original 

condition and the reasons for applying the condition; new conditions can be attached 
but only in so far as they apply to the original condition. If the Council decides that 
planning permission should be granted subject to the same conditions as those subject 
to which the previous permission was granted, they should refuse the application.

Page 59

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3861/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S2065/PEO
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S1338/PEO


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

6.2 Paragraph 15 of NPPG notes where an application under section 73 is granted, the
effect is the issue of a new planning permission, sitting alongside the original
permission, which remains intact and un-amended. Furthermore, to assist with clarity
decision notices for the grant of planning permission under section 73 should also
repeat the relevant conditions from the original planning permission, unless they have
already been discharged. A section 73 application cannot be used to vary the time limit
for implementation, this condition must remain unchanged from the original permission.

6.3 The relevant planning considerations are the following:

 Any changes to the Development Plan or site conditions since the original 
approval

 Principle of amending the approved landscaping scheme and the retention 
of the trees.

 Conditions.

6.4 Any changes to the Development Plan or site conditions since the original 
approval.
Since the grant of planning permission there has been a change in development plan 
with the adoption at the end of 2020 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035.
The introduction of this new plan has not resulted in a change in policy that would 
materially affect the outcome of this application.

6.5 Principle of amending the approved landscaping scheme and the retention of the 
trees. The property is complete and occupied. As highlighted earlier in the report the 
application seeks to vary the condition 5 in relation to the landscaping scheme shown 
on the approved plan TDS 345/FC2000 L on planning approval P19/S1072/FUL. The 
Parish and neighbours have objected to the variation of the condition. 

The Parish objection relates to the loss of screening between the properties. They 
consider that appropriate screening with the appropriate Yew trees, to provide the 
screening above the fence for the neighbour, is possible and should be planted in 
accordance landscaping plans. I am of the view that given the separation distance from 
the neighbouring dwellings and the presence of a 2-metre boundary fence the 
amenities of the neighbours in terms of overbearing, loss of light, overshadowing or 
privacy would not be materially harmed with removal of the requirement to plant yew 
trees to the east and south of the garage. 

It should be noted that the reason for applying the condition (see para. 1.5) is not to 
screen or provide privacy for the neighbouring properties but to assimilate the 
development into the wider area. This condition, and reason, follows the direction of the 
original approval of P16/S3861/FUL also shown in para. 1.5. Forestry comments on the 
original application were as follows - 

The trees within this site are not protected by a tree preservation order or a 
conservation area. All of the significant trees have been removed prior to the 
application being made. None of the remaining trees meet the necessary criteria to be 
protected by a TPO. In light of the above I have no objection to the development. If 
permission is to be granted a landscaping condition should be attached to secure a 
planting scheme to re tree the site and help to soften the impact of the development.

6.6 Comments submitted by the neighbour at Waisies are very similar to the objection 
raised on application P19/S1072/FUL with regard to landscaping along the driveway 
and north of the garage. These comments were reviewed by the Forestry Officer at the 

Page 60



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

time and addressed under the previous application. The comments from Waisies note 
that the owners have inherited an outstanding compliance issue with this development. 
They consider that the approved landscaping scheme should be carried out and 
Condition 5 should not be varied as this has mutual benefit to Waises, Old Forge House 
and Fifield House in their opinion.
 

6.7 The neighbour at Old Forge House is more directly affected by this revision and has 
raised several points of objection (see para 2.1 above). The concerns relate to the lack 
of adherence to the landscaping plans with regard to the type and numbers of trees 
planted around the garage area and along the fence toward the main house itself. 
Having visited the site previously I can confirm that Beech saplings were originally 
planted along the southern edge of the garage with only 5 Yew trees on the rear 
elevation. This hedge did not extend to the end of the fence toward the main house.

 

The neighbour concerns relate to the supporting documentation from the agent and the 
arboricultural report commissioned by the applicants, especially with regard to growing 
conditions given that the Yew trees to the rear have established. They have requested 
confirmation from an independent tree officer that the tree planting scheme can 
successfully be completed. In summary the occupants at Old Forge House seek the 
implementation of the approved planting scheme in line with the assurances previously 
given to neighbours and Council officials by the developer that landscaping scheme 
would and could be met.

6.8 The Forestry Officer, who has been involved with previous applications on the site, has 
reviewed the submitted details and provided the following comments – 
The long established conifer hedge / row of trees growing within the neighbouring 
property due south of the garage significantly restricts the amount of light reaching the 
areas proposed for planting around the garage. The conifers will also be extracting a lot 
of moisture from the ground and also reduce the amount of rainfall reaching the soil. As 
a result, the growing environment for any proposed planting would be challenging. 

Yew as a species can tolerate a degree of shade but combined with the very poor soil 
conditions on the applicant’s side of the southern boundary, I would expect planting to 
struggle and likely fail. Due to the existing conifers to the south I consider the planting, if 
it could become established, would provide little additional screening of the garage than 
the neighbour s conifers already do. 

Page 61



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

The small number of Yew trees planted between the rear eastern garage elevation and 
site boundary will receive more light and have better growing conditions the further 
away they are from the conifers. As can be seen the Yews planted closer to the 
conifers show signs of decreased vitality than those further away. As the Yew is 
growing in very close proximity to the boundary, those that do establish would be very 
hard to maintain from the applicant’s side of the land. On balance, I consider 
maintaining the requirements set out in the wording would be impossible to enforce, as 
in the current circumstances the neighbouring conifer hedge / trees would out compete 
new planting for light and moisture. If a proposed development is not considered 
sufficiently harmful and therefore permitted, but adjacent neighbours would prefer 
additional screening, then planting on their own side of the boundary would allow them 
to maintain the vegetation to suit their own requirements.

 

6.9 Observations from my site visit also highlighted that part of the neighbour’s hedge close 
to the leylandii trees is showing signs of failure. It is also noted that there would only be 
a requirement to implement the planting of trees for a period of 5 years after which, 
given that they are currently not afforded protection by being in a Conservation Area or 
a Tree Protection Order, they could be removed. 

6.10 The removal of the requirement to plant trees to the east and south of the garage would 
in my view not have any significant impact on views from or to  the open countryside of 
the AONB given that the garage area is shielded from view by residential dwellings and 

Page 62



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 1 April 2021

current boundary screening. Whilst there is an argument that the landscaping scheme 
should be implemented as agreed, I believe there is sufficient evidence following the 
completion of the development that ground conditions would not support tree growth to 
the area south of the garage that was not available at the time of the original 
determination. Furthermore, the Yew trees to the east close to the leylandii are showing 
decreased vitality than those further away and given the proximity to the boundary, 
those that have established are very hard to maintain from the applicant’s side of the 
land. I am therefore on balance of the view that an amendment to the condition should 
be agreed.

6.11 Conditions.
All planning conditions applied to previous determinations have been met with 
conditions discharged where required. An amended landscaping condition has been 
added to the determination to reflect the proposal to allow for the removal of the Yew 
trees around the garage with the Landscaping along the drive and boundary with 
Waisies remaining extant.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Officers recommend that planning permission is granted to vary condition 5 as the 

amendment to the wording of the condition would remove the maintenance 
requirements set out in the previous condition that would be impossible to enforce. The 
requirement to plant and maintain trees in these locations would not have a material 
impact on the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty or neighbour impact.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Planning permission is granted

1 : Landscaping implementation.

Author:        Neil Davies
Contact No: 01235 540546
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 63

mailto:planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 65

Agenda Item 9P21/S0290/FUL



REV. DATE REVISION

DEVELOPMENT

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

DATE

DRG. No.

DRAWN

REV.

John Coltman

e-mail john.coltman@BTconnect.com
Tel :- 01865-400620  Fax :- 01865-890822
OX44 7RW
Oxfordshire
Chalgrove
1b Park Offices, Monument Business Park
Technical Design Solutions

TDS  345 / FC2000

Site & Location Plans

Fifield Cottage
Ferry Lane
South Stoke RG8 0JL

19 June 2019 P.K.B

The

Primrose

Ashmount House

Waises

Moss Cott

Old Forge

Patterdale

Fifield Cottage

Cottage

House

FERRY LANE

Existing footprint dashed

Garage

+ 100.000

 100.695 +

+ 100.685

+ 100.425

+ 100.600

Ridge height 7.475m

Ridge height 7.200m

Ridge height 10.600m

Ridge height 7.000m

overhanging branches of existing conifers
on adjoining land to cut back to boundary.

Proposed
Garden Room

proposed 5 No 12ft
high yew trees

New 12ft high yew
trees at suitable spacings

to allow growth

yew trees

yew trees

prunus sunset
boulevard standard

acacia campestre
streetwise standard

8 No 3m high
trellised hornbeam

new native species
hedge planting

1.5m whips

new native species
hedge planting

1.5m whips

new native species
hedge planting

1.5m whips

new native species
hedge planting

1.5m whips

new native species
hedge planting

1.5m whips

2 No liquidamber styraciflua
slender silhouette standard

Ashmount

The

Primrose

Ashmount House

The Granary

Farm

Waises

Moss Cott

Ferry Lane Barn

Stables

Cottage

Old Forge

The Old

Patterdale

Fifield Cottage

Cottage

House

House

FERRY LANE

Garden
Room

StoreGarage

wc

North
ew

s

Scale Bars - shown in metres

Proposed Site Plan 1:200 @ A1

1:200 @ A1

1:200 @ A1
4 100 2 16

1:1250 @ A1  1:2500 @ A3
20 8010 50 1000

Location Plan 1:1250 @ A1

1 80
1:100 @ A1  1: 200 @ A3

2 64

Garden Room Plans & Elevations 1:100 @ A1
Floor Plan

Rear Side
South West South East

L

A       07-18        Scale Corrected
B       10-18        Minor Amendments

Front Side
North East North West

1 80
1:100 @ A1  1: 200 @ A3

2 64

Garage Plans & Elevations 1:100 @ A1

Front
West

Side
North

Rear
East

Side
South

Floor Plan

C       10-18        Minor Amendments
D       11-18        Minor Amendments
E       01-19        Balcony to master bed removed

F       02-19        Roof over kitchen and Master
  Bedroom window revised

G       02-19        Minor Amendments
H       03-19        Garden Room Revised
J        05-19        Minor Revisions
K        05-19        Minor Revisions
L        06-19        Minor Revisions

Appendix 2

P
age 66



P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Public participation
	Dr Edwards re. Benson 31.03.21
	Geoffrey Harcourt Objections to Development at the Ex Telephone Exchange building
	Cllr. Pattison Telephone exchangeP20.S2712.FUL objection
	Amanda Walker TECB 2 CL 01 290321
	Cllr Wyse, 62 LUDSDEN PARKING_
	Amy Burchell Planning Application Statement (002)
	Mr Hargreaves FIFIELD COMMITTEE290321
	Agents Statement  for committee meeting 1st April 2021 re Fifield House amended

	7 P20/S2712/FUL - Old Telephone Exchange, Church Road, Benson
	Appendices 1-2
	2 Location Plan drwgno 20 TECB SLP 01 rev A
	20 TECB SLP01 [Site Location Plan ]
	1/20 TECB SLP01


	2a Elevations Block & Floor Plans Existing drwgno 20 TECB EPE 01
	20 TECB EPE 01 [EXISTING PLANS, BLOCK PLAN & ELEVATIONS]
	4/20 TECB EPE 01
	5/20 TECB EPE 01
	6/20 TECB EPE 01
	7/20 TECB EPE 01


	2b Floor Plans and Block Plan Proposed drwgno 20 TECB PP02 rev D
	20 TECB PP 02 [PROPOSED PLANS & BLOCK PLAN ]
	7/20 TECB EPE 02
	3/20 TECB EPE 02
	9/20 TECB EPE 02
	3/20 TECB EPE 03


	2c Elevation & Section Plans Proposed drwgno 20 TECB PE 03
	20 TECB PE 03 [PROPOSED SECTION & ELEVATION]
	10/20 TECB EPE 03
	11/20 TECB EPE 03
	12/20 TECB EPE 03




	8 P20/S4298/FUL - 62 Ludsden Grove, Thame
	Appendices A-B
	A Location Plan drwgno LOC001
	B Site Plan drwgno SIP001
	B1 Floor Plan Ground Proposed drwgno SK-270820-01
	B2 Elevations Proposed drwgno SK-270820-02
	B4 Drainage Plan drwgno OP001


	9 P21/S0290/FUL - Fifield House, Ferry Road, South Stoke
	Appendices 1-2
	1 Location Plan
	2 Composite Plan drwgno TDS  345 _ FC2000 L
	TDS  345 / FC2000 L  Site and Location Plans

	2a Landscaping Plan drwgno TDS 345_FC7001 D





